IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI No. 2008-CA-02138

CATHY D. WISE

APPELLANT

V.

TIM WISE

APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF PERRY COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

BRIEF FOR APPELLANT SUBMITTED BY:

THOMAS W. CROCKETT, MSB No. WATKINS LUDLAM WINTER & STENNIS, P.A. 633 North State Street
Jackson, Mississippi 39202
Tel. (601) 949-4881
Facsimile (601) 949-4804

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI No. 2008-CA-02138

CATHY D. WISE

APPELLANT

V.

TIM WISE

APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF PERRY COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

BRIEF FOR APPELLANT SUBMITTED BY:

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. Did the decision of the Chancellor fail to meet the mandate of Miss. Code Ann. § 93-5-23 (2004) that the award must be "equitable and just" and therefore was a misapplication of the law?
- 2. Where the Chancellor failed to value the common stock in Tim's, Inc., which owned three convenience stores and was the most important marital asset of the parties which was awarded to the husband and also failed to value the assets of one of the stores which were awarded to the wife, should the case be reversed and remanded to the Chancellor to value these assets?
- 3. If the case is remanded, upon remand, should this Court advise the Chancellor that he may consider standards of value for the marital assets other than the net asset value?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case, Course of Proceedings and Disposition in the Court Below

The Appellant and Plaintiff, Cathy D. Wise ("Cathy"), filed a complaint for divorce on the grounds of uncondoned adultery against the Defendant and Appellee, Tim Wise, ("Tim") in the Chancery Court of Perry County, Mississippi. During the pre-trial proceedings, the parties agreed to the entry of a judgment of divorce on irreconcilable differences and to allow the Chancellor to decide the property issues. There were no minor children involved, thus child support and custody were not issues.

The case proceeded to trial and, after a two-day hearing, the Chancellor denied Cathy's request for alimony and divided the marital assets between the parties. Cathy and Tim had each owned 50% of the stock in Tim's, Inc., a corporation that had owned three convenience and filling stations, one in Beaumont and two in Richton, Mississippi. The Chancellor awarded Tim all the stock in Tim's, Inc., and Cathy the assets of the Beaumont store. The Chancellor then divided the remainder of the marital assets, with Cathy receiving approximately \$286,000 and Tim \$405,000. Cathy was forgiven for certain claims for unauthorized expenditures and reimbursement for payment of taxes, the amount of which was not specified.

Statement of the Facts Relevant to the Issues Presented for Review

Cathy and Tim married in 1973 when Tim was 17½ years old. (Tr. vol. 5, 240.) During the first years of the marriage, both Tim and Cathy worked, with both making substantial contributions to the accumulation of the marital assets. (R. vol. 3 at 392-93.) Two girls were born, one in 1974 and another in 1977, but Cathy continued to work after they were born. (Tr. vol. 5, 241-42.) Cathy worked outside the home and also performed the usual household duties of a mother of two children and wife. (R. vol. 3 at 392-93.) Tim and Cathy saved their money, and in 1989, they bought the inventory of an Exxon store in Richton, Mississippi, using their savings as a downpayment and borrowed the remainder, which they paid off in less than a year. (Tr. vol. 4, 51.) During their marriage, all of the assets were a result of their joint efforts. (Tr. vol. 5, 289.)

Cathy and Tim formed Tim's, Inc., in 1996 (Tr. vol. 5, 242), with Tim and Cathy each owning one-half of the stock. In addition to her homemaking duties and outside employment with an engineering firm, Cathy did all the bookkeeping and income taxes for the family farm and the business and personal income taxes, all while working in the business about 35 hours a week. (Tr. vol. 4, 53; R. vol. 3 at 392-94.) Tim and Cathy continued to save and bought a store in Beaumont in 1990. When she was needed, Cathy would, in addition to performing the paper work for the three stores and family farm, assist the accountant on tax returns and

assist in the kitchen, cooking and doing whatever else was required. (Tr. vol. 4, 53.) Cathy did most of the bookwork for Tim's, Inc., at night and on weekends. (Tr. vol. 6, 387.) By 2006, Tim's, Inc., was owner of the three stores involved here, which grossed \$6,079,156. (Tr. vol. 6, 361.) The record contains little information concerning the relative value of the three stores, except that the sales tax returns for 2007 reflected that the Beaumont sales taxes were \$28,779, the Richton Exxon sales taxes were \$43,893 and the Richton Amoco sales taxes were \$54,701. (Tr. vol. 6, 360.) Thus, the Beaumont store had the smallest amount of gross sales and, according to Cathy, was the least desirable store because of the nature of its clientele. (Tr. vol. 4, 61.)

During the ten years from 1996 to 2006, Cathy and Tim's annual income from Tim's, Inc., averaged about \$120,000, with each receiving \$60,000. (R. vol. 3 at 391.) After 33 years of marriage, Cathy and Tim separated in 2006, and on June 6, 2006, Cathy sued Tim for a divorce on the grounds of uncondoned adultery. Subsequently, Cathy and Tim agreed to a divorce on irreconcilable differences with the court to decide the property issues. (R. vol. 3 at 390.)

In his first appraisal dated as of July 31, 2006, and based on Rev. Rul. 59-60, 1959-1 C.B. 237, the court appointed evaluator, William T. Kelly, appraised Tim's, Inc., to have a fair market value of \$410,000. (Ex. vol. 2, 88.) Later, after being instructed by the court to omit any value for goodwill, he valued the business

at \$80,000 as of July 31, 2006. (Ex. vol. 7, 735.) Mr. Kelly submitted yet a third value effective as of December 30, 2007, showing a value of \$0. (Ex. vol. 8, 797-99.) The assets were not appraised; the appraiser took the value from the tax rolls, which may or may not have been the actual value, and admitted that he did not know the actual value of the assets being appraised. (Tr. vol. 5, 212-13.) Thus, the value of \$80,000 seven weeks after the suit was filed had been reduced to \$0 by seventeen months after the suit was filed.

Notably, as of July 31, 2006, about the time that Cathy and Tim separated, Tim's, Inc., had total assets of \$182,331, liabilities of \$26,273 and equity of \$156,058. (Ex. vol. 2, 107.) Seventeen months after Cathy had left the stores to Tim's management, December 31, 2007, the assets were \$78,409, total liabilities were \$111,273 and reported equity was \$(32,864), a decline of \$188,922. (Ex. vol. 8, 817.)

The case was tried on August 15 and 16, 2008, and the final judgment of divorce was entered on November 26, 2008. (R. vol. 3 at 388.) The Chancellor refused to award alimony, and in making his division of the marital property, the court awarded Tim all of the common stock in Tim's, Inc., thus divesting Cathy of her 50% ownership of the company. The Chancellor awarded Cathy the assets pertaining to the least desirable of the three stores, the Beaumont store, and

relieved her of an unspecified amount of claims that Tim had asserted against her. (R. vol. 3 at 396-98.)

The Chancellor awarded Tim net assets valued at \$405,550 and Cathy net assets of \$286,335. (*Id.*)

That the awards consisted of a large number of assets (none of which were valued) is demonstrated by the following words of the Order:

To Cathy:

• • •

(1) The BEAUMONT STORE, to the extent and manner set forth hereinafter in the list of allocation of property to Tim, with the express provision that should Cathy, at any future time when Tim is still in business in the Perry County area, propose to sell the Beaumont Store she shall first offer same to Tim at the same terms of sale proposed to others and he shall have first option to purchase same; and if such situation should occur all offers and responses must be documented in writing signed by both parties.

b. To Tim:

(1) 100% of the shares of Tim's, Inc., a Mississippi LLC, and property thereof including all inventories, stock, equipment, tools, supplies, bank accounts of the corporation, accounts receivable, accounts payable, and properties real or personal of the business known as Tim's, Inc. or other trade name; EXCEPTING, HOWEVER, THE FOLLOWING, TO-WIT:

The Beaumont Store, including its lease(s) pertaining thereto, its inventories, stock, equipment, tools, supplies, bank accounts, accounts receivable, accounts payable, and properties real or personal of the business known thereat as Tim's or other trade name, all of said Beaumont Store to be transferred and assigned in full unto Cathy Wise as her

sole property with <u>effective date of August</u> 15, 2008, subject to the purchase option set forth above in the allocation to Cathy.

(R. vol. 3 at 396-97.) The Chancellor did not value either of these awards, except that as a partial justification of his denial of alimony, he cited, among other reasons:

The property distribution as to the income producing business they now own as will be hereinafter set forth can be, as this Court assesses it, reasonably expected to meet the needs of Cathy and Tim without any required contribution by either unto the other, and particularly is this true due to the debt assumption load that will be significantly greater upon Tim than upon Cathy.

(Id.)

The Court assigned 80% of the indebtedness attributable to Tim's, Inc., to Tim and 20% to Cathy. (R. vol. 3 at 398.)

Being aggrieved, Cathy appeals.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

I. THIS CASE SHOULD BE REVERSED AND REMANDED BECAUSE THE CHANCELLOR FAILED TO VALUE THE ASSETS BEING DISTRIBUTED AND THE DECISION WAS MANIFESTLY WRONG AND CLEARLY ERRONEOUS.

A. Scope Of Review.

The Scope of Review is the familiar rule: "if manifest error is present or a legal standard is misapplied, the court will not hesitate to reverse." As in shown points B and C, both of these faults were present in the opinion of the Chancellor.

B. The Failure Of The Chancellor To Value The Assets Distributed Renders Impossible A Meaningful Review By This Court On Appeal.

The principle assets to be divided in this case were the stock and/or assets of Tim's, Inc., a corporation formed by Tim and Cathy in 1996 using borrowed money to buy one convenience store. Using marital income, the couple paid off these borrowed funds and purchased two more stores. By 2006, the three stores owned by Tim's, Inc., were grossing over \$6,000,000 a year, from which Cathy and Tim were each drawing \$60,000. Without making any attempt to value Tim's, Inc., or its assets, the Chancellor awarded to Cathy the assets pertaining to the Beaumont store, the least desirable of the three stores, and awarded the stock of Tim's, Inc., less the Beaumont store, to Tim, thus resulting in Tim owning the two most desirable stores. Without a valuation of these assets, a meaningful appellate review cannot be accomplished. Further, the Chancellor absolved Cathy from the

responsibility for the repayment of certain ad valorem taxes on the home place for her alleged unauthorized charge to American Express of \$23,050 and overpayment of wages during the period of the temporary order as full satisfaction of any claim for lump sum of cash which he asserted. The lack of the valuation of these claims also impedes an appellate review.

C. The Decision Of The Chancellor Was So Unfair And Unreasonable That It Was Manifestly Wrong And Clearly Erroneous And Therefore Should Be Reversed.

The only statutory mandate pertaining to orders by Chancellors in marital cases is that the order should be "equitable and just." Miss. Code Ann. § 93-5-23 (2004). The order is unfair to Cathy because she is deprived of her 50% ownership in Tim's, Inc., which she had owned for 30 years and to which she had made substantial contributions and from which she had drawn \$60,000 a year salary, in exchange for the least desirable of the corporation's three stores, plus only 40% of the marital assets and relief from some unspecified claims. Simple fairness dictates that if Cathy is to be deprived of her ownership of 50% of a company from which she drew \$60,000 a year for the least desirable of the three stores plus relief from some undefined debts or claims, she should receive more than 40% of the remaining marital assets. After thirty years of marriage in which she worked both outside the home and kept books for Tim's, Inc., as well as looking after the family, unless there is some serious fault on her part (of which there is no

evidence), Cathy should be able to live as well as Tim. It is obvious that the income from the least desirable one of three stores will not provide this income.

- II. ON REMAND THIS COURT SHOULD GIVE TO THE CHANCELLOR THE DISCRETION TO USE SOME OTHER STANDARD OF VALUE OTHER THAN THE NET ASSET VALUE.
 - A. The Yelverton Case Should Not Be Construed To Require That The Net Asset Value Should Be Used In All Divisions Of Marital Assets.

The language in *Yelverton* is broad enough to be construed that in all marital assets the net asset value standard is required. On remand the Chancellor should be instructed that he is free to use other means of valuation as long as they are reasonable and reach an "equitable and just" result. By requiring the net asset value to be used, this court departed from *Ferguson* which requires that the assets be valued at their fair market value, which except for professional practices, always includes the earning power of the assets combined in the enterprise, The facts in the instant case are sometimes referred to as "goodwill." distinguishable from those in the below-cited Singley, Watson and Yelverton cases in two important ways. First, in the instant case Cathy was not awarded alimony or support of any kind. Of course, the earning capacity of the paying spouse is a factor to be considered in awarding support. Therefore, to consider that factor in valuing the asset would constitute double dipping, which on its face is unfair. However, since Cathy did not receive any support, this unfairness would not be present in considering the earning capacity of Tim's, Inc., in valuing the asset.

Second, in *Singley, Watson* and *Yelverton*, the wife owned no interest in the husband's business and, as far as the opinions show, had made no specific contributions to the business. In the instant case, Cathy had owned 50% of the stock in Tim's, Inc., since its inception in 1996 and had made substantial contributions to the success of Tim's, Inc. It is one thing to award a wife spousal support based on the earning capacity of a business and then consider the value of the business and double-dip by including the earning capacity of the business in the valuation thereof. By contrast, it is another thing to take away the ownership of 50% of the business that the wife has owned for thirty years from which she had been drawing \$60,000 a year with no corresponding award of support.

For the above reasons, the Chancellor should be allowed to use some standard other than the net asset value of Tim's, Inc.

B. The Court Should Allow The Chancellor To Consider All Relevant Facts And Adopt The Method Of Valuation That Would Achieve A Statutorily Mandated Standard Of Equitable And Just.

If the Chancellor is not required to use the fair market value or the net asset value, then what value should he be allowed to use? Again, Plaintiff is not arguing that the Chancellor should be restricted to any one value but simply that he should be allowed to pick the one that reaches an equitable and just result. Under the facts in this case, the use of the investment value would reach such a result. The investment value is defined as "the specific value of an investment to a particular investor or class of investors based on individual investment requirements; [it is]

distinguished from market value, which is impersonal and detached." Shannon P. Pratt, Valuing A Business: The Analysis and Appraisal of Closely Held Companies 43 (5th ed. 2008):

The investment value would be particularly appropriate in the instant case because this case does not involve a liquidation of Tim's, Inc.—in which the net asset value would be appropriate—nor a sale—in which case the fair market value would be appropriate. The Court would simply look at how much more the ownership of Tim's, Inc., without the Beaumont store would mean to Tim than the ownership of the Beaumont store means to Cathy and split the marital assets accordingly.

There are probably few assets whose valuation imposes as difficult, intricate and sophisticated a task as interests in close corporations. *Lavene v. Lavene*, 372 A.2d 629, 633 (N.J. Super. 1977).

ARGUMENT

I. THIS CASE SHOULD BE REVERSED AND REMANDED BECAUSE THE CHANCELLOR FAILED TO VALUE THE ASSETS BEING DISTRIBUTED AND THE DECISION WAS MANIFESTLY WRONG AND CLEARLY ERRONEOUS.

A. Scope Of Review

The scope of review is set forth in *Thompson v. Thompson*, 894 So. 2d 603 (¶ 13) (Miss. Ct. App. 2004), as follows:

This Court will not disturb the findings of a chancellor unless the chancellor was manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous, or applied an erroneous legal standard. We are required to respect the chancellor's findings of fact that are supported by credible evidence and not manifestly wrong. Nonetheless, if manifest error is present or a legal standard is misapplied, this court will not hesitate to reverse.

(emphasis supplied and citations omitted).

As shown in Point B below, the failure to value the assets being distributed is a manifest error, and in Point C below, the decision was clearly erroneous and misapplied the legal standard of "equitable and just."

B. The Failure Of the Chancellor To Value Both The Common Stock Of Tim's, Inc., Less The Assets Pertaining To The Beaumont Store And The Assets Of The Beaumont Store Renders Impossible A Meaningful Review By The Court On Appeal And, Therefore, Constitutes Reversible Error.

These values were essential for this court to determine whether the division of the marital assets was equitable; without them, an appellate review is impossible. The record contains substantial disagreement on the value of Tim's, Inc. In the first opinion of Nicholson & Company, PLLC, the value of 100% of the common stock as of July 31, 2006, was \$410,000. (Ex. vol. 2, 83-84.) After being instructed to remove all value for goodwill, the appraisal as of July 31, 2006, was \$80,000. (Ex. vol. 7, 734-35.) In yet a third appraisal the value at December 31, 2007, was \$0. (Ex. vol. 8, 798-99.) Without a finding of fact by the trial court on what the value of Tim's, Inc., was, less the assets of the Beaumont store and the

value of the Beaumont store assets, and a specification of the amount of debts of which Cathy was relieved, a meaningful appellate review is impossible.

The Chancellor must make a finding of fact to the value of the items being awarded or be faced with reversal and remand. See Bresnahan v. Bresnahan, 818 So. 2d 1113 (¶ 16) (Miss. 2002); Aron v. Aron, 832 So. 2d 1257 (¶ 14) (Miss. Ct. App. 2002); and Bell on Mississippi Family Law § 6.07[2], at 178 (2005) and cases cited.

The words of the court in *Gray v. Gray*, 909 So. 2d 108 (¶ 8) (Miss. Ct. App. 2005), are appropriate here. "Nevertheless, we find that the Chancellor committed manifest error in failing to make the required record of the findings of fact and conclusions of law regarding the *Ferguson* factors. This error impedes our appellate review." *See Goodson v. Goodson*, 910 So. 2d. 35 (¶ 14) (Miss. Ct. App. 2005) ("The chancellor erred in not placing a specific value on Judy's business.") (referring to *Ferguson v. Ferguson*, 639 So. 2d 921 (Miss. 1994)).

In cases where the chancellor failed to make findings on the fair market value of the various assets prior to division, the Court has reversed and remanded for such findings because "[i]t is impossible for this Court to perform its oversight responsibility in the absence of such a valuation . . ." Horn v. Horn, 909 So. 2d 1151 (¶ 47) (Miss. Ct. App. 2005); Scott v. Scott, 835 So. 2d 82 (¶ 13) (Miss. Ct. App. 2002) (emphasis supplied); Pucylowski v. Pucylowski, 741 So. 2d 998 (¶ 17)

(Miss. Ct. App. 1999). All three of the appraisals in this case included the value of the substantial amount of fixed assets in the three stores, but these assets were never appraised. (Ex. vol. 2, 83; Ex. vol. 7, 734; Ex. vol. 8, 798.) The values were merely taken from the tax assessment rolls, which did not necessarily reflect the real value of the assets. The appraiser admitted that he did not know the actual value of these assets. (Tr. vol. 5, 212-13.)

Without the value of the common stock of Tim's, Inc., or the value of the assets of the Beaumont store, this court simply cannot make a meaningful review of the case. It should, therefore, be reversed and remanded.

C. The Decision Of The Chancellor Was So Unfair And Unreasonable That It Was Manifestly Wrong And Clearly Erroneous And Should Therefore Be Reversed.

As has been the case in Mississippi for the past century-and-a-half, the goal in divorce cases is to make such orders as are equitable and just. Miss. Code Ann. § 93-5-23 (2004). Or, as stated in *Stewart v. Stewart*, 2 So. 3d 770 (¶ 7) (Miss. Ct. App. 2009), "the key goal for a Chancellor is to make certain that equity is accomplished, which requires fairness to both parties."

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