IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CATHY D. WISE

VERSUS

TIM WISE

APPELLANT

NO: 2008-CA-02138

APPELLEE

On appeal from the Chancery Court of Perry County, Mississippi

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ORAL ARGUMENT IS NOT REQUESTED

ERIK M. LOWREY, P.A. Attorneys at Law David A. Pumford MSB # 525 Corinne Street Hattiesburg, MS 39401 601/582-5015 601/582-5046 (Fax)

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned attorney of record for Tim Wise certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made for the purpose that the Justices of this Court may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal:

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

A. Like I said earlier yesterday, I'd love to have the Exxon if I was going to get one. But if Mitchell is not going to lease to me - - if he thinks he'd want to take it back over, I guess I'd have to take the Beaumont Store

(TR 384)

When asked by her attorney whether she would in fact be willing to take the Beaumont store, Cathy testified as follows:

Q. Would you be willing to take that store if you had to take it?

A. If I had to take one, yes.

(TR 384)

Cathy had placed a Hancock Bank Certificate of Deposit, valued at \$33, 166.00 in

her name only, apparently on the advice of one of her former attorneys. (TR 71) Cathy spent monies from the business beyond those that were authorized by the Temporary Order, including checks written to cash, (TR 107) (TR 253) (EX 59) (RE 79) as well as checks payable to third parties from the Tim's, Inc. business account. (EX 62) (RE 80-83) Cathy also charged personal expenses such as fuel and cigarettes to the business. (TR 140) (EX 54) Pending these divorce proceedings Cathy reduced her withholdings of taxes from her pay which resulted in her receiving a higher net pay and Tim receiving a lower net pay, again, according to Cathy, on the advice of one of her former attorneys. (TR 125) (TR 147) (EX. 60)

Cathy worked as a book-keeper for two of her brothers pending her divorce for which she did not ask for or receive compensation. (TR 124) When asked why she did not charge her brothers to work for them Cathy responded "Because I don't want to." (TR 139) During this time Tim was responsible for the day to day running of Tim's, Inc. After the entry of the Temporary Order Cathy no longer kept the books for Tim's, Inc. As acknowledged at trial by Cathy, for the two years that this divorce action was in litigation, even though Cathy had not worked at Tim's, Inc., or been involved in the book-keeping, she had drawn the highest salaries of her entire marriage. (TR 150-151) The Chancery Court found that the best evidence regarding the parties' respective incomes was their social security statements. (TR 76) (EX 56) (RE 73) (EX 57) (RE 76). Tim testified that Cathy's additional salary and expenses had depleted the value of the business subsequent to the entry of the Temporary Order. (TR 285) Tim also testified that the rise in gas prices had depleted the value of the business as well. (TR 285) Tim further testified that Cathy charging gas and other items to the company also depleted the value of the business. (TR 286) Julie Brown, court-appointed accountant and book-keeper, testified that in the year 2007 Tim and Cathy, combined, received overpayments from the business of approximately \$30,000.00, each, respectively, in excess of the amounts set forth in the Temporary Order. In the year 2008 Cathy alone was over-paid \$7,822.41 in salary in excess of the Temporary Order. (TR 347)

Based on the facts as presented, and the evidence and testimony at trial, the division of assets and liabilities by the Chancellor was equitable and just as required by Miss. Code Ann. § 93-5-23 (2004). The Chancery Court correctly identified and followed existing Mississippi precedent in the classification and distribution of marital assets and there was no abuse of discretion. The first task of the Chancellor is to classify the assets as marital or nonmarital. The second task is to value the marital assets. Next the court is to equitably divide those marital assets and state the reasons for the division in its decision through findings of fact and conclusions of law. Ferguson v. Ferguson, 639 So.2d 921 (Miss. 1994); Johnson v. Johnson, 650 So, 2d 1281, 1287 (Miss. 1994). This is precisely what the Chancery Court did in the case at bar. The Court made detailed findings concerning the accumulation and appreciation or depreciation of marital assets and liabilities, as well as the contributions of each party thereto, and provided a detailed analysis of the applicable Ferguson factors. As the Mississippi Supreme Court observed in Culbreath v. Johnson, 427 So.2d 705, 708 (Miss. 1983) "The trial judge saw these witnesses testify. Not only did he have the benefit of their words, he alone among the judiciary observed their manner and demeanor. He was there on

the scene. He smelled the smoke of battle. He sensed the interpersonal dynamics between the lawyers and the witnesses and himself. These are indispensable." *Id.*

In evidence are an appraisal for real property located at 227 Cochran Road, valuing that real property at \$150,000.00. (EX 66) and a cattle herd appraisal for net appraised value of \$72,682.75 (RE 72) Also in evidence are Hemsley summaries of marital assets and liabilities, the most recent being that revised on August 7, 2008. (EX 51) (RE 67) The parties also operated a business involving three gas stations/convenience stores, two of which were in Richton, Mississippi, one of which was in Beaumont, Mississippi. The parties leased the premises and did not own them. Cathy stated at trial that she "disagreed" with the revised appraisal by Nicholson and Company concerning the valuation of the businesses because "all three are running at full force." (TR 21) The figures used by Nicholson and Company were provided by the parties on their income tax returns as far as the value of any equipment or assets depreciated. (TR 23) Nicholson and Company acted as a Court-appointed expert and two reports are in evidence as to the value of the businesses, one with a valuation date as of July 1, 2006, (EX 28(a)) (RE 733), the other as of December 31, 2007. (EX 28(b) (RE 63). Both of these reports were admitted into evidence. (TR 32) This expert relied on the information provided on the books and tax returns for the business. Prior to the Court appointment of an accountant, Cathy was the book-keeper for the business. Subsequent to the entry of the Temporary Order, Julie Brown was a court-appointed accountant and bookkeeper. Chancery Courts are vested with authority and discretion to appoint accountants and business valuation experts. Heigle v. Heigle, 771 So.2d 341, 349 (Miss. 2000); Mace v.

Mace, 818 So.2d 1130, 1134 (Miss. 2002). Cathy chose not to hire her own expert to challenge or refute these appraisals made by the Court-appointed appraiser. Cathy offered no expert testimony or proffered testimony concerning the method of valuation used. It is the duty of the parties, not the Chancellor, to produce evidentiary proof in support of their asserted value. *Wilson v. Wilson*, 975 So.2d 261, 265 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007) The Chancellor cannot be held in error in relying on the uncontradicted expert testimony, opinions and appraisals of the Court-appointed business appraiser. *Mathews Brake Hunting & Fishing Club, Inc. V. Sneed*, 475 So.2d 811, 812-13 (Miss. 1985).

As stated by the Mississippi Supreme Court in Dunn v. Dunn:

Where parties provide inadequate proof of an asset's value, a chancellor's valuation with "some evidentiary support" will be upheld. *Dunaway v. Dunaway*, 749 So.2d 1112, 1121(¶28) (Miss.Ct.App.1999). Further, "[I]t is incumbent upon the parties, and not the chancellor, to prepare evidence touching on matters pertinent to the issues to be tried." *Id.* at 1118(¶14).

Dunn v. Dunn, 911 So.2d 591, 597 (Miss. 2005)

Cathy did not challenge the net-asset approach, as directed by the Chancellor and utilized by the appraiser, in her post-trial motions. Failure to seek relief first in the Chancery Court, or through a post-trial motion, means that the issue is procedurally barred on appeal. *Chapel v. Chapel*, 700 So.2d 593, 600 (Miss. 1997); *Concannon v. Reynolds*, 878 So.2d 107, 109 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003); MRCP 59; MRCP 52(b). Assignments of error raised for the first time on appeal will not be considered. *In Re. L.D.M.*, 872 So.2d 655, 658 (Miss. 2004); *Ellis v. Ellis*, 651 So.2d 1068, 1073 (Miss. 1995).

The law on equitable distribution in Mississippi is very clear. Since 1994 when the

Mississippi Supreme Court ruled on the seminal case, Ferguson v. Ferguson, 639 So.2d 921 (Miss. 1994), the Mississippi Supreme Court rejected the separate property system and Chancellors were to apply the system of equitable distribution. The Mississippi Supreme Court did not order that there was to be equal distribution. Mississippi is not a community property state, where marital assets are divided on a 50/50 basis, and the legislature has declined to make Mississippi a community property state. Instead, the Mississippi Supreme Court has promulgated guidelines for the equitable distribution of marital property and has vested the Chancellors of this State broad discretion in determining what is marital property, in determining the contribution of each spouse toward the accumulation of marital property, and in ordering the division of marital property according to what is equitable and reasonable. This is obviously a highly fact-specific process, which is why a Chancellor's decision is subject to such a highly deferential standard of review. In Ferguson the Mississippi Supreme Court stated that "there is no automatic right to an equal division of jointly accumulated property, but rather, the division is left to the discretion of the Court." Ferguson v. Ferguson, 639 So.2d 921, 927 (Miss. 1994). More recently the Mississippi Supreme Court provided a concise summation of the law as it now stands with regard to equitable distribution principles:

At the outset, we note that in reviewing a chancellor's judgment as to the distribution of marital property, it is not within this Court's province to conduct a *Ferguson* analysis anew: Rather, the Court will review the chancellor's judgment to ensure that he followed the appropriate standards and did not abuse his discretion. *Phillips v. Phillips*, 904 So.2d 999, 1001(¶8) (Miss.2004). In so reviewing, the Court must keep in mind that equitable distribution does not always mean an equal division of property.

Dunn v. Dunn, 911 So.2d 591, 596 (Miss. 2005)

Absent an abuse of discretion, the Appellate Court will uphold the decision of the Chancellor. To disturb the factual findings of the Chancellor, the appellate Court must determine that the factual findings are manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous or that the Chancellor abused his discretion." *Hollon v. Hollon*,784 So.2d 943, 946 (Miss. 2001). The appellate court's scope of review in domestic relations matters is limited by the familiar substantial evidence/manifest error rule. The Chancellor fashioned an equitable remedy in this case which is supported by substantial, credible evidence in the record supported by credible evidence contained in the record as well as the testimony of witnesses and exhibits as offered at trial. Cathy has cited no evidence to warrant disturbing the findings of the Chancellor, or to suggest error in his *Hemsley/Ferguson* analysis for the purposes of classification and equitable distribution of the assets and the liabilities of the parties. The Chancellor accounted for both assets and liabilities in this analysis and accommodated Cathy's desire to control and be responsible for one of the business locations.

2. WHETHER THE CHANCERY COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION, WAS MANIFESTLY WRONG, CLEARLY ERRONEOUS, OR APPLIED AN ERRONEOUS LEGAL STANDARD IN FOLLOWING THE NET ASSET RULE FOR VALUATION PURPOSES.

The Chancellor followed the law, and acted well within the discretion of a Court of equity in the equitable distribution of marital assets. As pointed out by Cathy in her brief, the Mississippi Supreme Court has long held that the factors to be considered in determining fair value are within the discretion of the Chancellor. *Richton Bank & Trust Co. v. Bowen*,

798 So.2d 1268 (Miss. 2004) Not only did the Chancery Court act well within its discretion it also correctly applied Mississippi precedent.

Cathy did not challenge the net-asset approach, as directed by the Chancellor and utilized by the appraiser, in her post-trial motions. Failure to seek relief first in the Chancery Court or through a post-trial motion means that the issue is procedurally barred on appeal. *Chapel v. Chapel*, 700 So.2d 593, 600 (Miss. 1997); *Concannon v. Reynolds*, 878 So.2d 107, 109 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003); MRCP 59; MRCP 52(b). Assignments of error raised for the first time on appeal will not be considered. *In Re. L.D.M.*, 872 So.2d 655, 658 (Miss. 2004); *Ellis v. Ellis*, 651 So.2d 1068, 1073 (Miss. 1995).

Pursuant to *Singley v. Singley*, 846 So.2d 1004 (Miss. 2002) and *Watson v. Watson*, 882 So.2d 95 (Miss. 2004) "goodwill" should not be used in the evaluation of a sole proprietorship for purposes of equitable distribution. *Singley* involved a solo professional practice. *Watson* involved a husband's veterinarian practice. While there may have been the possibility of raising the question as to whether the precedent set by these cases applies to all businesses, or non-professional businesses, the Mississippi Supreme Court subsequently made it abundantly clear in the 2007 case, *Yelverton v. Yelverton*, goodwill, either personal or business enterprise, shall not be included in a business valuation in divorce and equitable distribution cases where business assets are at issue. *Yelverton v. Yelverton*, 961 So.2d 19, 29 (Miss. 2007). The Chancery Court correctly acknowledged and applied this clear precedent to the case at bar.

Cathy is requesting that the reviewing Court change the law in respect to the preferred

method for the valuation of business assets in a divorce case in Mississippi. Cathy's arguments are based principally on cases from other states and treatises that favor the use of the investment value approach. The Chancery Court cannot reasonably be expected to depart from Mississippi precedent and use and approach that has been expressly rejected by the Mississippi Supreme Court.

Cathy further argues that because periodic alimony was not awarded in this case, the existing precedent as embodied in *Singley, Watson* and *Yelverton* should not apply. Even if this were the law, which it is not, the flaw in Cathy's argument is that she has not challenged the Chancery Court's decision not to award alimony. She could have raised the issue of whether or not the Chancellor should have awarded alimony in her post-trial motion or her appeal, but she elected not to do so.

Neither did Cathy raise any arguments to the Chancery Court concerning the use of the net-asset approach for the valuation of the business in her post-trial motion, effectively denying the Chancery Court the opportunity to address this issue at that time. Instead, Cathy is now asking the reviewing Court to find the Chancery Court in error for following wellestablished Mississippi precedent concerning the classification, valuation and equitable distribution of marital assets and liabilities. The Chancellor was not clearly erroneous, nor was an erroneous legal standard applied in applying the net-asset valuation approach to the parties business interests and to do so was entirely consistent with Mississippi precedent.

CONCLUSION

The equitable division of assets and liabilities employed by the Chancellor was equitable and just as required by Miss. Code Ann. § 93-5-23 (2004). The Chancery Court did not abuse its discretion, was not manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous and did not apply an erroneous legal standard in its ruling on the classification and equitable distribution of marital assets and liabilities, or in the use of the net asset approach for purposes of ascertaining the value of the business acquired during the marriage. Arguments raised by the Appellant on appeal concerning the use of the net asset approach to valuation, arguments which the lower Court was not given an opportunity to address though post-trial motions, are also procedurally barred on appeal. The Chancellor's Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Final Judgment was well within the bounds of discretion that has been vested in Chancellors in this State, with no abuse of discretion or manifest error on the part of the Chancellor. The Chancellor made findings of fact and conclusions of law which were anchored in established Mississippi jurisprudence in the areas of divorce and equitable distribution and alimony. For the foregoing reasons, Tim Wise, Appellee, respectfully requests that the decision of the Chancery Court of Perry County, Mississippi be affirmed.